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Year ended March 31 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(In thousands, except per share data)

Net sales $657,493 $635,307 $393,842 $187,381 $165,049

Net (loss) income GAAP basis $ (54,017) $    6,683 $    2,651 $    1,666 $    5,317

Net (loss) income cash basis $ (27,637) $    8,139 $    3,441 $    1,748 $    5,337

Net income per share:

Basic GAAP basis* $ (1.56) $        .29 $        .23 $        .15 $        .55

Diluted GAAP basis* $ (1.56) $        .25 $        .15 $        .12 $        .49

Net income per share:

Basic cash basis** $ (.80) $        .35 $        .30 $        .16 $        .55

Diluted cash basis** $ (.80) $        .30 $        .20 $        .12 $        .49

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Basic 34,717 23,013 11,503 10,897 9,653

Diluted 34,717 26,943 17,167 14,143 10,874

* GAAP basis per common share is the per-share calculation of net income, as defined under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

** Cash basis per common-share is the per-share calculation based on net income, plus amortization expense and charges arising from the impairment of goodwill; First Call’s consensus estimate for PEMSTAR
is reported on this cash basis.
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PEMSTAR Inc. provides a comprehensive range of engineering, manufacturing and fulfillment services to customers on a global basis
through facilities strategically located in the United States, Mexico, Asia, Europe, South America and the Middle East. The company’s
service offerings support customers’ needs from product development and design, through manufacturing to worldwide distribution
and aftermarket support. Founded in 1994, PEMSTAR has more than 4,000 employees in 19 facilities in 15 locations worldwide. 
PEMSTAR became publicly held in August 2000, and its stock is traded under the Nasdaq symbol PMTR. 
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“Today, our prospects are strong. 
We are reducing our breakeven

point. Business with existing 
customers is solid, and we’re 

seeing a range of new 
opportunities emerge.”

AL BERNING Chairman, President and CEO

Dear Shareholders:

Difficult economic conditions and world events affected the electronics man-

ufacturing services (EMS) industry in fiscal 2002. PEMSTAR felt the impact

in the second half of the year and we reported disappointing financial per-

formance for our third and fourth quarters. As a result, we are taking steps

to lower expenses, improve productivity and enhance efficiencies. Some of

these measures are complete and some will take place during our fiscal

2003 first and second quarters. As this report was being finalized, we had

reduced our workforce and initiated a program implementing further reduc-

tions and facility consolidation. 

While our business didn’t grow at historical levels in fiscal 2002, we did

achieve several key milestones. We:

• grew net sales to $657.5 million from $635.3 million in fiscal 2001;

• significantly enhanced PEMSTAR’s engineering capabilities with key

acquisitions; 

• increased engineering revenue as a percent of total revenue;

• completed a secondary offering to fund future growth initiatives; and

• continued to win key customer engineering, manufacturing and fulfill-

ment projects. 

PEMSTAR’s historical success and ability to compete are chiefly due to our

broad client base and our emphasis on value-added engineering services. 

“PEMSTAR’s historical success and ability to compete are chiefly
due to our broad client base and our emphasis 

on value-added engineering services.” We are focused across five key, yet diverse, industries: communications, 

computing and peripherals, industrial equipment, data storage and medi-

cal. Increasingly, customers are selecting PEMSTAR because of our superior

engineering capabilities combined with our “Concept to Customer” approach.

PEMSTAR can take a customer’s idea for a product, design and engineer it,

test and build the product and ultimately deliver it to end customers – faster,

cheaper and more efficiently than companies can themselves. And we are

aggressively pursuing significant new opportunities. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

PEMSTAR’s net sales rose 3.5 percent for fiscal 2002. The company reported

a net loss of $54.0 million, or $1.56 per share, on a GAAP basis, compared

to net income of $6.7 million, or $.25 per share, in fiscal 2001. On a cash

basis, the net loss was $27.6 million, or $.80 per share, versus net income

of $8.1 million, or $.30 per diluted share, for the previous year. 

Significant factors driving fiscal 2002 net sales were:

• increased business with our top customer accounts including Motorola

and IBM;

• new initiatives for existing customers Seagate, Fluke and Honeywell; 

• key customer project wins including Logitech, Given Imaging, LGC

Wireless and Xtera; and 

• higher engineering revenue as a percent of total sales of 16.3 percent, up

from 7.1 percent in the previous year. 

For the year, sales to the communications industry accounted for 44.5 per-

cent of total sales. The remaining 55.5 percent of sales were to: computing

and peripherals, 27.4 percent; industrial equipment, 14.1 percent; data stor-

age, 10.6 percent; and medical, 3.4 percent. Most significantly, medical was

up from 0.4 percent in fiscal 2001, an indication of our increasing presence

in this high-margin industry.

From a geographic perspective, 70.1 percent of fiscal 2002 net sales were

derived from product manufactured in North America, with 21.9 percent

generated in Asia, 7.6 percent in Europe and 0.4 percent from PEMSTAR’s

Brazil facility.

In anticipation of future growth, we conducted a follow-on stock offering

in June 2001. We successfully priced 6.3 million shares of common stock,

raising $80 million. 

Networks, Inc., LightStream Technologies, Given Imaging and LGC Wireless.

In fiscal 2003, we are aggressively pursuing new business with prospects as

well as new projects with existing customers.

We also completed the installation of our supply chain management solu-

tion, combining PEMSTAR processes with leading-edge software applica-

tions Agile, i2, Mapics and Datasweep. We expect this system to further

improve ramp to production volume, reduce costs and improve visibility

and control of PEMSTAR’s global manufacturing operations.

OUTLOOK

I firmly believe in the EMS model, in the industry and in PEMSTAR’s ability

to successfully compete. Industry analysts continue to forecast a mounting

need for EMS providers. And there is increasing demand for our project

design and technology development – proven PEMSTAR strengths.

In fiscal 2003, we will focus on:

• reducing costs and boosting efficiencies worldwide;

• continuing to build our engineering expertise; and

• broadening PEMSTAR’s reach in our five key industries.

Today, our prospects are strong. We are reducing our breakeven point.

Business with existing customers is solid, and we’re seeing a range of new

opportunities emerge. We are confident in PEMSTAR’s ability to deliver

financial growth.

We would like to thank our shareholders, customers and employees for their

continued support. 

Sincerely,

Allen J. Berning 

Chairman, President and CEO

June 3, 2002

from Concept to Customer

STRATEG IC ACQUISITIONS

In September, PEMSTAR acquired California-based Pacific Consultants LLC,

a leading provider of product engineering, development and analysis ser-

vices to OEMs in the medical, wireless, optical, telecommunications, con-

sumer electronics and military industries. PEMSTAR Pacific Consultants is

now a wholly owned subsidiary of PEMSTAR Inc., and is leading the devel-

opment of the U.S. Army’s Land Warrior program. Pacific Consultants brings

a team of world-class engineers to PEMSTAR.

On the manufacturing side of the business, we purchased MTS Systems

Corporation's operations in Chaska, Minn. MTS is a global supplier of com-

puter-based testing and simulation systems. In addition to continuing to

provide manufacturing services for MTS, we now have access to key PEMSTAR

customers in the Minneapolis-St. Paul area, which is important to us as a

Minnesota-based company.

OPERATIONAL H IGHLIGHTS

On the strength of PEMSTAR's range of engineering, manufacturing and

fulfillment services, the company attracted a number of new customers

throughout the year. We formed partnerships with Logitech, Xtera

Communications, RLX Technologies Inc., Texas Instruments, ThinkEngine



4 5

The U.S. Army 

H i g h  t e c h n o l o g y  a n d  s o p h i s t i c a t e d  w e a p o n s  s y s t e m s  d o m i n a t e  t h e  21 s t

c e n t u r y  b a t t l e f i e l d .  To  s t a y  a t  t h e  f o r e f r o n t ,  t h e  U . S .  A r m y  w a n t e d  t o  c r e a t e

t h e  w o r l d ’ s  f i r s t  “ d i g i t a l  s o l d i e r ,”  b y  t u r n i n g  i n f a n t r y m e n  i n t o  e x t r e m e l y

e f f e c t i v e ,  c o m p u t e r i z e d ,  i n d e p e n d e n t  w e a p o n s  s y s t e m s .  T h e  k e y ?  D e v e l o p i n g

a  w e a ra b l e  e l e c t r o n i c s  s u i t e  o f  i n t e g r a t e d  c o m p o n e n t s  t h a t  i n t e r c o n n e c t s  

h i g h - t e c h  f i r e a r m s  w i t h  c o m m u n i c a t i o n s  a n d  n a v i g a t i o n  g e a r .

In the murky swamps of Fort Polk, La., paratroopers from the

U.S. Army’s 82nd Airborne Division engage in mock combat. 

They use thermal sensors to locate hidden targets hundreds 

of yards away. Looking into helmet-mounted displays, they see

geographic maps that pinpoint fellow soldiers, as well as ene-

mies. A video sight minimizes their exposure, allowing them 

to fire around objects, corners and over obstructions. They 

communicate through satellite-relayed radio and e-mail.

The paratroopers are testing the U.S. Army’s new Land Warrior

system. Like something out of a high-tech simulation, Land

Warrior creates a 21st century soldier whose uniform is as much

a weapon as his gun. 

Land Warrior is a 12-pound suite of electronics that includes an

Intel-processor powered wearable computer that runs Microsoft

Windows software and seamlessly weaves together a soldier’s

helmet and rifle with advanced communications and naviga-

tion systems. It’s the world’s first wireless integrated human net-

work for the battlefield. And it gives U.S. soldiers an undeniable

edge when tracking down enemies in hostile environments. 

Land Warrior

PEMSTAR’s Solution

With over 700 engineering professionals – including 25 Ph.D.s – PEMSTAR specializes in turning initial concepts into viable

products. Drawing from its experienced staff and technological advances in the commercial sector, PEMSTAR used a “Silicon

Valley” approach to speed up development cycles and ensure producible designs for the Land Warrior system. PEMSTAR devel-

oped and integrated a wearable computer, radios and software for voice and data communications. This system also includes 

a helmet-mounted display, global positioning system, acquisition and targeting tools, and a weapons system interface. The

company’s design greatly enhances mobility, effectiveness and survivability for U.S. soldiers.

DESIGN ENGINEERING MANUFACTURING FULFILLMENT

D I D  Y O U  K N O W ? L A N D  W A R R I O R  I S  T H E  W O R L D ’ S  F I R S T  W I R E L E S S  I N T E G R A T E D  H U M A N  N E T W O R K  
F O R  T H E  B A T T L E F I E L D .

from Concept to Customer

Land Warrior also is the nucleus that interconnects squads, 

platoons and divisions with a constant flow of critical and

potentially life-saving information. 

“Land Warrior is a powerful technology,” said Colonel 

Ted Johnson, U.S. Army. “It enhances our troops’ mobility, 

communication and survivability in the field.” 

The Land Warrior system became a reality through the efforts of

the Land Warrior Consortium, made up of PEMSTAR, PEMSTAR

Pacific Consultants, two other Silicon Valley-based companies

and a training firm from Georgia. Together, the Consortium

brainstormed ideas and completely revamped an earlier attempt

at a wearable computer system for soldiers. Now in the final

stages of testing, the Land Warrior is scheduled for production

in 2004.

“The bottom line is this: Land Warrior will help our troops 

survive and succeed,” Johnson said. 
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Given Imaging 

G a s t r o i n t e s t i n a l  ( G I )  d i s e a s e s  a f f e c t  m i l l i o n s  o f  p e o p l e .  Tr a d i t i o n a l  m e t h o d s

f o r  i m a g i n g  t h e  G I  t r a c t  a n d  d i a g n o s i n g  d i s e a s e  a r e  i m p e r f e c t ,  p a r t i c u l a r l y

f o r  t h e  s m a l l  i n t e s t i n e ,  t h e  2 0 - f o o t  l o n g  s e c t i o n  b e t w e e n  t h e  s t o m a c h  a n d

t h e  c o l o n ,  w h i c h  a c c o u n t s  f o r  a p p ro x im a t e l y  t w o - t h i r d s  o f  t h e  G I  t r a c t .  X - r a y s

p ro v i d e  a n  i n d i r e c t ,  h a r d - t o - d i a g n o s e  v i e w ,  a n d  e n d o s c o p y ,  i n  w h i c h  a  2 . 3 -

m e t e r  t u b e  i s  i n s e r t e d  d o w n  a  p a t i e n t ’ s  t h r o a t ,  i s  i n v a s i v e  a n d  u n p l e a s a n t .

P h y s i c i a n s  w o r l d w i d e  n e e d  a  p a i n - f r e e  a l t e r n a t i v e  t h a t  d e l i v e r s  r e s u l t s .

The small intestine is one of the most difficult areas of the body

to explore and diagnose. Thanks to a tiny camera-in-a-capsule

that patients swallow, physicians, for the first time, can obtain

images of the entire small intestine without surgery or painful

invasive procedures. 

The little-larger-than-a-vitamin capsule is called 

the M2A™. It’s made by Israeli-based Given Imaging Ltd.

(www.givenimaging.com), and contains a four-millimeter

video camera, flashing light, microchip, power source and

wireless transmitter. Physicians can use its images to diagnose

a range of gastrointestinal disorders and diseases including

Crohn’s disease, celiac disease, polyposis, intestinal tumors,

iron deficiency anemia and obscure bleeding.

After being swallowed, the M2A capsule, a component of Given’s

Diagnostic Imaging System, moves smoothly and painlessly

through the body aided by the GI tract’s natural movement. As

it progresses on its eight-hour journey, the M2A transmits video

signals at two images per second. These images are stored on a

data recorder worn around the patient’s waist. 

From there, the images are downloaded onto a computer 

using Given’s proprietary software that processes the data and

produces a short video clip of the small intestine together with

additional relevant information from the digestive tract. 

“The M2A capsule offers a pain-free alternative to existing

diagnostic methods and may show doctors areas of the small

intestine that they haven’t been able to see before,” said 

Gavriel Meron, CEO of Given Imaging. 

In a clinical study, the M2A was found to be 60 percent effective

in discovering an intestinal abnormality, compared with 35 per-

cent using an endoscope. Moreover, after swallowing the capsule,

patients are free to go about their daily activities, and physicians

do not become involved until the data has been recorded. 

M2A is a trademark of Given Imaging Ltd.

The M2A™ Capsule

PEMSTAR’s Solution

Manufacturing a pill-sized video camera that provides its own light, transmits wirelessly, operates under difficult conditions 

and carries its own power source is challenging. Given Imaging needed a reliable and committed manufacturing partner who

could accommodate growing demand for its M2A capsule. PEMSTAR brought its medical, optical and electronics manufacturing

expertise to Given’s Israeli headquarters, in conjunction with its subsidiary, PEMSTAR Israel, Ltd., and engineered, built,

installed and provided ongoing support for semi-automatic production lines. In the future, PEMSTAR could design and install

fully automatic, high-capacity production lines, ensuring that the M2A capsule can be mass-produced at a competitive cost

while meeting stringent medical quality and safety standards. 

DESIGN ENGINEERING MANUFACTURING FULFILLMENT

D I D  Y O U  K N O W ? T H E  M 2 A  T E C H N O L O G Y  I S  N O W  M A R K E T E D  I N  4 1 C O U N T R I E S  A R O U N D  T H E  W O R L D .

from Concept to Customer
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Logitech 

C o n s u m e r s  a r e n ’ t  b u y i n g  n e w  P C s  a s  o f t e n  a s  t h e y  u s e d  t o .  I n s t e a d ,  m a n y

a re  e n h a n c i n g  t h e i r  e x i s t i n g  s y s t e m s  w i t h  t h e  a d d i t i o n  o f  c u t t i n g - e d g e

p e r i p h e ra l s ,  s u c h  a s  a  c o r d l e s s  m o u s e ,  f o r  a d d e d  f u n c t i o n a l i t y  a n d  f r e e d o m

f r o m  c a b l e  c l u t t e r .  F o r  m a n u f a c t u r e r s ,  t h e  c h a l l e n g e  i s  t o  c o s t - e f f e c t i v e l y

p r o d u c e  l a r g e  q u a n t i t i e s  o f  s u c h  p e r i p h e ra l s  t o  m e e t  g r o w i n g  d e m a n d .  

The Cordless Computer Mouse

PEMSTAR’s Solution

Logitech’s cordless computer mice are subject to fast-paced market demand and time-sensitive sales. As a Logitech manufacturing

and fulfillment partner, PEMSTAR has the flexibility and cost-effective manufacturing capability to help the company succeed

in a retail environment. Through its Mexico subsidiary, PEMSTAR set up production lines in close proximity to Logitech’s 

key North American markets. With leading-edge supply chain management and quality control systems, PEMSTAR is helping

Logitech effectively manage inventory and shorten customer delivery times. In the future, PEMSTAR and Logitech expect to

expand their manufacturing partnership to include a wider range of peripheral products, in addition to cordless mice.

DESIGN ENGINEERING MANUFACTURING FULFILLMENT

D I D  Y O U  K N O W ? O N E  O U T  O F  E V E R Y  T H R E E  C O M P U T E R  M I C E  C A R R I E S  T H E  L O G I T E C H  B R A N D .

from Concept to Customer

Even though they were conceived in the 1960s, computer mice

first hit the mainstream in 1984. Since then, the mouse has

evolved into one of the most intuitive and often upgraded 

computer-input devices. 

The goal of any mouse is to translate hand motion into signals

that computers can use. Given that people naturally point at

things, it is no surprise that the mouse has become the most

ubiquitous human/computer interface. Logitech International

(www.logitech.com) designs, manufactures and markets per-

sonal interface products, including a variety of computer mice

that help people to effectively work, play and communicate 

in the digital world. 

Thanks to advances in technology, mice that offer both cordless

connectivity and precise optical tracking are now the preferred

choice for pointing and clicking. Logitech’s cordless optical

mouse brings extraordinary versatility to ordinary tasks, using

the combination of cordless and optical technology to elimi-

nate the need for connector cords, mouse pads and even the

small rubber balls used to detect movement and direction in

traditional computer mice.

An optical mouse uses a light-emitting diode (LED) to take

thousands of electronic pictures every second. Based on the 

change in patterns over a sequence of pictures, the mouse’s

processor determines how far it has moved and sends the corre-

sponding coordinates to the computer. Consumers can use the

Logitech cordless optical mouse on essentially all surfaces up 

to six feet from their computer – with no cords required.

“We’re committed to providing innovative, affordable products

that consumers want to buy and love to use,” said Guerrino 

De Luca, president and chief executive officer, Logitech. “With a

minimal investment, our customers can enrich their PC experi-

ence and take advantage of today’s powerful new applications.”

In addition to its advanced digital radio technology and optical

sensing, Logitech’s cordless mouse features an aesthetically

pleasing shape that comfortably fits the human hand.

Today, Logitech’s cordless mice are sold in more than 50 coun-

tries worldwide. The company estimates that only about three

percent of PC owners currently have cordless mice, which is

below the average market penetration of a peripheral device.

The opportunity is therefore great for Logitech, in collaboration

with PEMSTAR as a manufacturing partner, to create a signifi-

cant market in this area.
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A L L E N  J .  B E R N I N G

Chairman of the Board

Director since 1994

Al Berning has served as CEO, director and

chairman of the board of PEMSTAR since

founding the company in 1994. Prior to 1994,

he was employed by IBM where he held a vari-

ety of engineering and management positions,

most recently as operations manager for IBM’s

Rochester, Minn., Storage Systems facility. In

1999, Berning received the national Ernst &

Young Entrepreneur of the Year Award.

R O B E R T  D .  A H M A N N

Director since 1999

Since joining PEMSTAR in 1994, Robert

Ahmann has held a number of engineering

and management positions at PEMSTAR. 

He currently serves as executive vice president

of precision process and test equipment. 

He was employed by IBM from 1977 to 1994.

T H O M A S  A .  B U R T O N

Director since 1994

Tom Burton has been an independent consul-

tant since 1995. From 1960 to 1990, he was

president and CEO of Waters Instruments, Inc.

He served on the Minnesota Public Utilities

Commission from 1992 to 1997.

K E N N E T H  E .  H E N D R I C K S O N

Director since 2002

Kenneth Hendrickson has served as director

of QLogic since its August 2000 merger with

Ancor Communications, where he had been

Chairman of the Board. Prior to that,

Hendrickson held key management positions

with Western Digital Corporation. He also

serves on the Advisory Board of Tantia

Technologies.

B R U C E  M .  J A F F E

Director since 2000

Bruce Jaffe served as senior vice president and

chief financial officer of Bell Microproducts

Inc., from 1997 to 1999. Prior to that, he was

employed by Bell Industries Inc. in several

management positions. Jaffe currently serves

on the Board of Advisers for the University of

Southern California School of Business.

G R E G  S .  L E A

Director since 2001

Greg Lea is an independent consultant since

retiring this year from Jostens Corporation,

where he held key management positions since

joining the company in 1993. Previously, Lea

was with IBM for more than 18 years where he

held a variety of management positions.

M I C H A E L  O D R I C H

Director since 2002

Michael Odrich previously served as a 

PEMSTAR director from 1998 until 2001.

Since 1995, Odrich has been a managing

director and head of Lehman Brothers’

Venture Capital Fund; he joined the firm’s

investment banking division in 1986. He is

currently a director of Active Software, Inc.

and Regeneration Technologies, Inc.

S T E V E  V .  P E T R A C C A

Director since 1999

Steve Petracca has been executive vice presi-

dent of business development since joining

PEMSTAR in 1999. From 1998 to 1999, he

served as executive vice president and general

manager of Quadras Manufacturing, a 

division of Bell Microproducts. Prior to that,

Petracca was CEO and president of Reply

Corporation, a company he founded in 1988.

K A R L  D .  S H U R S O N

Director since 1994

Karl Shurson has been PEMSTAR’s executive

vice president of quality since 1998. He has

also served as corporate manager of human

resources since 1994 and as the site executive

for PEMSTAR’s Bangkok, Thailand, operations

since 1998. From 1962 to 1994, Shurson was

employed by IBM where he held several 

technical and management positions. 

A L L E N  J .  B E R N I N G  

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 

and Director

R O B E R T  D .  A H M A N N

Executive Vice President – 

Precision Process and Test Equipment, 

and Director

L I N D A  U .  F E U S S

Executive Vice President, 

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

W I L L I A M  J .  K U L L B A C K  

Executive Vice President – 

Finance and Chief Financial Officer

S T E V E  V .  P E T R A C C A

Executive Vice President – 

Business Development and Director 

K A R L  D .  S H U R S O N

Executive Vice President – 

Operations and Quality, and Director 

H A R G O P A L  ( P A U L )  S I N G H

Executive Vice President – 

International Operations
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Corporate/Shareholder Information 

C O R P O R AT E  O F F I C E

PEMSTAR Inc.

3535 Technology Drive NW

Rochester, Minnesota 55901

(507) 288-6720 phone

(507) 280-0838 fax

www.pemstar.com

T R A D I N G  O F  C O M M O N  S T O C K

The company’s Common Stock has traded 

on the Nasdaq National Market System under

the symbol “PMTR” since August 8, 2000.

A N N U A L  M E E T I N G  

PEMSTAR’s annual meeting of shareholders

will be held at the company’s headquarters,

3535 Technology Drive NW, Rochester,

Minnesota, on Thursday, July 25, 2002, 

at 4:00 p.m.

F O R M  1 0 - K

A copy of the company’s Form 10-K, as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission,

is available at www.sec.gov/edgarhp.htm or

upon request by contacting:
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 

The following table summarizes financial data regarding our business and should be read together with 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," our consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes included in this report. 

 
(In thousands, except per share data) 

Year Ended March 31, 

 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:      
Net sales $ 657,493 $ 635,307 $ 393,842 $ 187,381 $ 165,049 
Cost of goods sold    627,457    581,278    363,974    172,219   147,962 
Gross profit 30,036 54,029 29,868 15,162 17,087 
      
Selling, general and administrative expenses 53,351 37,366 21,576 10,955 8,328 
Amortization 2,152 1,961 1,281 190 54 
Goodwill impairment charge       24,228                -                -                -                - 
Operating income (loss) (49,695) 14,702 7,011 4,017 8,705 
      
Other income (expense) – net 829 967 (74) (438) 455 
Interest expense      (7,077)      (7,550)      (3,588)         (640)         (746) 
Income (loss) before income taxes (55,943) 8,119 3,349 2,939 8,414 
      
Income tax expense (benefit)      (1,926)        1,436            698        1,273        3,097 
Net income (loss) $ (54,017) $     6,683 $      2,651 $     1,666 $     5,317 
      
Net income (loss) per share:      
      Basic $  (1.56) $  .29 $  .23 $  .15 $  .55 
      Diluted (1.56) .25 .15 .12 .49 
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding(1): 

     

      Basic 34,717 23,013 11,503 10,897 9,653 
      Diluted 34,717 26,943 17,167 14,143 10,874 
      
Other Financial Data:      

Depreciation $   18,299 $   12,097 $     7,455 $    3,331 $     1,929 
Capital expenditures 37,882 42,542 13,415 8,657 8,393 

      
Supplemental Data:      
EBITDA(2) $   (4,187) $   29,727 $   15,673 $    7,100 $   11,143 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating 

activities (307) 
 

(54,219) 
 

(20,225) 
 

65 
 

(1,374) 
Net cash used in investing activities (61,203) (62,684) (52,611) (4,989) (10,126) 
Net cash provided by financing activities 67,164 119,512 74,734 2,556 14,661 
 As of March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:      
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents $  11,483 $    5,882 $    2,727 $      827 $   3,195 
Working capital 137,335 131,851   49,649  12,783   12,873 
Total assets 395,724 349,077 190,451  64,983   61,121 
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations less 

current maturities 
 

74,462   84,873   55,181    7,090     6,340 
Total shareholders’ equity 193,397 150,712   22,673  16,555   19,544 
Book value per share $ 5.27 $ 5.33 $ 1.64 $ 1.47 $ 1.88 
Tangible book value per share(3) $ 4.32 $ 4.30 $ 0.14 $ 1.13 $ 1.88 

(1) For an explanation of the determination of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in computing net 
income per share, see Note 1 of the notes to consolidated financial statements. 

(2) EBITDA means earnings before net interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is presented because we 
believe it is an indicator of our ability to incur and service debt and a similar formula is used by our lenders in determining 
compliance with financial covenants.  However, EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to cash flow from operating 
activities, as a measure of liquidity or as an alternative to net income as a measure of operating results in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  Other companies may compute EBITDA in a different manner. 

(3) Tangible book value is total shareholder equity minus goodwill.  
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 
PEMSTAR Inc. 

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the “Selected Financial Data” section of this report 
and our consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements included elsewhere in this report.  The 
forward-looking statements in this discussion regarding the electronics manufacturing services industry, our 
expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources and other non-historical statements 
in this discussion include numerous risks and uncertainties.  Our actual results may differ materially from those 
contained in any forward-looking statements. 

OVERVIEW 
 
We are a provider of electronics manufacturing services to original equipment manufacturers in the 
communications, computing, data storage, industrial, medical equipment and defense markets.  We provide these 
manufacturers with a comprehensive range of engineering, manufacturing and fulfillment services on a global basis 
through 19 facilities strategically located in North America, South America, Asia and Europe.  Our comprehensive 
service offerings support our customers’ products from initial development and design through manufacturing to 
worldwide distribution and aftermarket support. 
 
PEMSTAR was founded in January 1994 by a group of eight senior IBM managers who had led the storage product 
operations at IBM’s Rochester, Minnesota facility.  We have maintained a significant relationship with IBM, which 
remains one of our major customers.  Since our inception, we have diversified our customer base to include industry 
leading and emerging original equipment manufacturers.  We have also expanded our geographic presence, 
enhanced our product and service offerings and increased our volume production capabilities.  Our key growth 
initiatives have been the opening of new facilities in Austin, Texas; Guadalajara, Mexico; Tianjin, China; Navan, 
Ireland; Singapore; Hortolandia, Brazil; Yokohama, Japan; and Bangkok, Thailand and the acquisition of 
established businesses in Almelo, the Netherlands; San Jose, California; Dunseith, North Dakota; Taunton, 
Massachusetts; Mountain View, California; and Chaska, Minnesota.  These growth initiatives have given us: 
 

• expanded geographic presence in established and emerging markets and strengthened our presence in 
target markets;  

• enhanced product and service offerings while allowing us to offer cost-effective manufacturing and 
engineering capabilities;  

• access to new customers; and 
• specialized test and process equipment design, manufacturing and service capabilities. 

 
Our sales are generally derived from master supply and manufacturing agreements, with current demand evidenced 
by purchase orders, or from specific purchase orders for discrete projects.  We charge our customers separately for 
engineering and manufacturing services.  We recognize revenues from product sales, net of product returns and 
warranty costs, typically at the time of product shipment.  In limited circumstances, although the product remains in 
our facilities, we recognize revenue when title to, and risks and rewards of ownership of, the products have 
contractually passed to the customer.  Revenue from services is recognized as they are performed and collection is 
reasonably certain.  Our sales from engineering services, which includes process test and automation equipment 
production and prototype development, represent an increasingly significant proportion of net sales, accounting for 
16.3%, 7.2% and 5.6% of our total net sales in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The purchase of Pacific 
Consultants in fiscal 2002 contributed to this growth.  Manufacturing services accounted for 83.7%, 92.8% and 
94.4% of our total net sales in fiscal 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.   
 
Our cost of goods sold includes the cost of components and materials, labor costs and manufacturing overhead.  The 
procurement of raw materials and components requires us to commit significant working capital to our operations 
and to manage the purchasing, receiving, inspection and stocking of these items. Our production volumes are based 
on purchase orders for the delivery of products.  These orders typically do not commit firm production schedules for 
more than 30 to 90 days in advance.  We work to minimize the risk of obsolete inventory by ordering materials and 
components only to the extent necessary to satisfy existing customer orders.  To the extent our orders of materials 
and components for specific jobs exceed products ultimately delivered to our customers and they are not held fully 
responsible for our excess inventory, due to their financial condition or business relationship considerations, we may 
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incur a charge for inventory obsolescence for the excess inventory.  We believe we are largely protected from the 
risk of inventory price increases, because we generally can pass these costs through to our customers. 
 
Our operating results are also impacted by the level of capacity utilization of our manufacturing facilities, non-
manufacturing labor, and selling, general and administrative expenses.  During periods of high capacity utilization, 
our gross margins and operating margins generally improve, while, during periods of lower capacity utilization, our 
gross margins and operating margins generally decline.  We have expanded production facilities, which became 
available in fiscal 2002, and have incurred, substantial selling, general and administrative expenses to develop a 
worldwide sales infrastructure and to implement industry-leading customer and materials management information 
technology systems.  As a result, we have developed an infrastructure that will support substantially higher levels of 
sales than our current net sales.  
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The table below sets forth certain operating data expressed as a percentage of our net sales for the years indicated: 
 

  Year Ended March 31, 
  2002 2001 2000 
 Net sales………………………………………………...… 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 
 Cost of goods sold…………………………………………   95.4 %   91.5 %   92.4 % 
 Gross profit………………………………………….….… 4.6 % 8.5 % 7.6 % 
     
 Selling, general and administrative expenses…………..… 8.1 % 5.9 % 5.5 % 
 Amortization…………………………………………...…. .3 % .3 % .3 % 
 Goodwill impairment charge………………………...……     3.7 %         - %         - % 

 Operating income (loss)…………………………………... (7.5)% 2.3 % 1.8 % 
     
 Other income (expense) – net…………………………...... .1 % .2 % (.0)% 
 Interest expense………….……..…………………….…....   (1.1)%   (1.2)%     (.9)% 
 Income (loss) before income taxes……………...…….…... (8.5)% 1.3 % .9 % 
     
 Income tax expense (benefit)……………………………...     (.3)%       .2 %       .2 % 
 Net (loss) income………………………………………….   (8.2)%     1.1 %       .7 % 
 
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2002 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2001 

Net sales – Our net sales for fiscal 2002 increased $22.2 million, or 3.5%, to $657.5 million from $635.3 million in 
fiscal 2001. This increase resulted from the acquisitions of US Assemblies New England, Inc., Pacific Consultants 
LLC, and MTS Systems’ Chaska operations, which accounted for $35.1 million of additional revenue in fiscal 2002. 
After eliminating the effects of acquisitions, our net sales decreased $12.9 million in fiscal 2002.  This sales 
decrease is attributable to reduced sales to communications customers offset, in part, by sales increases with existing 
and new customers in our computer, storage, industrial and medical markets.  Net sales to communication customers 
for fiscal 2002 decreased to 44.5% compared to 53.3% in fiscal 2001.  The Company’s five largest customers for 
fiscal 2002 accounted for approximately 51% of net sales, two of which exceeded 10% of net sales. 
  
Gross profit - Our gross profit decreased $24 million in fiscal 2002 to $30.0 million, from $54.0 million in fiscal 
2001.  This decrease was due, in part, to the sales decline at facilities operated for the full prior fiscal year and 
changes in sales mix including less sales from higher gross profit communication customers.  Expansion of facilities 
during fiscal 2002 added fixed costs of $14.3 million for those facilities that were in operation in fiscal 2001.  We 
also incurred inventory write-downs of $5.4 million in the current year for excess inventory due to reduced customer 
orders below anticipated levels and order cancellations.  In addition, gross profit decreased due to transitional 
operating costs associated with shifting certain manufacturing programs from higher to lower cost facilities, start-up 
costs associated with new customers and severance costs resulting from reductions in workforce.  The gross profit 
declines were offset by $6.0 million of gross profit from sales at acquired companies and facilities not in operation 
for the full fiscal year 2001.  The facilities and other infrastructure developed to support higher levels of net sales 
will continue to be an operating issue as we enter fiscal 2003 and is being addressed with restructuring actions to 
reduce cash expenditures in fiscal 2003. 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses - Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased $16.0 
million to $53.4 million (8.1% of net sales) in fiscal 2002 from $37.4 million (5.9% of net sales) in fiscal 2001.  A 
significant factor in this increase was the uncertain collection of accounts receivable from emerging companies and 
customers in bankruptcy, which accounted for a charge for accounts receivable of $8.2 million in fiscal 2002. Many 
of these customers also contributed to the inventory charges noted above. Other increases to selling, general, and 
administrative expenses were primarily related to additional expenses of acquired businesses of $4.5 million and 
increased costs of information technology infrastructure and software of $2.2 million. 
 
Amortization - Amortization of goodwill increased $0.2 million to $2.2 million in fiscal 2002 from $2.0 million in 
fiscal 2001, primarily as a result of amortization of goodwill arising out of our acquisition of US Assemblies New 
England, Inc.  In addition, fiscal 2002 benefited as a result of no amortization of goodwill for the Pacific Consultants 
LLC and MTS Systems’ Chaska operation acquisitions completed after July 1, 2001, as required by the newly issued 
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. 
 
In fiscal 2002, we recognized goodwill impairment charges of $24.2 million related to our acquired facilities in 
Almelo, The Netherlands, San Jose, California and Taunton, Massachusetts.  These charges are the conclusion from 
our analyses of the expected future cash flows in response to the reduced sales volumes experienced in fiscal 2002 in 
these locations. 
 
Other income (expense) - Other income, was $0.8 million in fiscal 2002 compared to other income of $1.0 million in 
fiscal 2001. This change in other income was primarily a result of lower gains on sales of fixed assets offset by 
higher currency gains in certain foreign locations.  
 
Interest expense - Interest expense decreased $0.5 million to $7.1 million in fiscal 2002 from $7.6 million in fiscal 
2001. This decrease reflects reduced overall interest rates on our variable line of credit. 
 
Income tax (benefit) expense - The income tax benefit was $1.9 million in fiscal 2002 compared to a tax expense of 
$1.4 million in fiscal 2001. The benefit for fiscal 2002 was created as a result of the current year recognition of the 
available refund of previously paid taxes from the carryback of the fiscal 2002 United States tax loss to prior years.  
This benefit is offset, in part, by recorded valuation allowances for previously recognized deferred tax assets in 
certain tax jurisdictions. The United States carryback benefit was increased by $3.8 million as a result of the recent 
tax law changes, which extended the carryback period for the operating losses to five years. The fiscal 2002 benefits 
contrast with the fiscal 2001 expense at low rates resulting from profits located in primarily low tax non-United 
States jurisdictions. 
 
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2001 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2000 

Net sales - Our net sales increased $241.5 million, or 61.3%, to $635.3 million in fiscal 2001 from $393.8 million in 
fiscal 2000. This increase resulted from both internal growth and the acquisition of Turtle Mountain. In fiscal 2001, 
our internal growth, which excludes net sales increases from operations acquired in the preceding 12 months, 
accounted for $203.7 million, or 84.3%, of total year-to-year growth and was driven by new projects with existing 
and new customers in North America and Asia. Our acquisition of Turtle Mountain accounted for $37.8 million, or 
15.7%, of total year-to-year growth. 
 
Gross profit - Our gross profit increased $24.1 million to $54.0 million in fiscal 2001 from $29.9 million in fiscal 
2000. This increase in gross profit reflects the year-to-year growth in net sales. This higher gross profit in fiscal 
2001 was primarily due to higher sales volumes from existing and new customers in both domestic and certain 
international locations and the acquisition of Turtle Mountain. Gross profit increased to 8.5% of net sales in fiscal 
2001 from 7.6% in fiscal 2000 due to increased utilization of our facilities. 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses - Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased $15.8 
million to $37.4 million in fiscal 2001 from $21.6 million in fiscal 2000. As a percentage of net sales, our selling, 
general and administrative expenses increased to 5.9% in fiscal 2001 from 5.5% in fiscal 2000. These increases were 
primarily due to $5.6 million for additional sales and administrative compensation, $4.2 million of overhead 
expenses for existing and new facilities, $1.0 million of expenses from acquired businesses and $1.0 million of 
additions to information technology infrastructure. 
 
Amortization - Amortization increased $0.7 million to $2.0 million in fiscal 2001 from $1.3 million in fiscal 2000, 
primarily as a result of amortization of goodwill arising out of our acquisition of Turtle Mountain.  
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Other income (expense) -  In fiscal 2001, we had other income of $1.0 million as compared to other expense of $0.1 
million in fiscal 2000. This change in other income was primarily a result of currency gains in certain foreign 
locations and gains from sales of fixed assets. 
 
Interest expense - Our interest expense increased $4.0 million to $7.6 million in fiscal 2001 from $3.6 million in 
fiscal 2000. This increase reflects increased borrowings required to fund the Turtle Mountain acquisition and 
opening of new facilities as well as increased working capital requirements driven by growth in business with new 
and existing customers. 
 
Income tax expense - In fiscal 2001, our effective tax rate decreased to 17.7% from 20.8% in fiscal 2000. This 
decrease resulted from the mix of domestic versus international income from operations and the benefit of our 
foreign sales corporation. In general, our international operations are being taxed at a lower rate than our domestic 
operations due to tax holidays and incentives. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

We have funded our operations from the proceeds of bank debt, private and public offerings of equity and 
convertible debt, cash generated from operations and lease financing of capital equipment. Our principal uses of 
cash have been to finance working capital, acquisitions, expanded operations, capital expenditures and debt service 
requirements. We anticipate these uses will continue to be our principal uses of cash in the future. 
 
Net cash used in operating activities for fiscal 2002, 2001, and 2000 was $0.3 million, $54.2 million and $20.2 
million, respectively. Net cash used in operating activities decreased in fiscal 2002 primarily as a result of decreased 
working capital needs to fund accounts receivable and inventory due to the slower sales growth in fiscal 2002. 
 
Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2002, 2001, and 2000 was $61.2 million, $62.7 million, and $52.6 
million, respectively. In fiscal 2002, our cash used in investing activities consisted of $24.4 million used primarily in 
the acquisitions of US Assemblies New England, Inc., Pacific Consultants LLC, and MTS Systems Chaska 
operations and $37.9 million used for capital expenditures. Capital expenditures decreased in fiscal 2002 by $4.6 
million as compared to the prior fiscal year. Capital expenditures were principally used for buildings, clean room 
facilities set-up, printed circuit board assembly equipment, and information technology equipment and upgrades 
across several of our facilities. We estimate capital expenditures in fiscal 2003 will decrease to approximately $12 
million. 
 
Net cash provided by financing activities for fiscal 2002, 2001, and 2000 was $67.1 million, $119.5 million, and 
$74.7 million  respectively. Our principal sources of cash from financing activities in fiscal 2002 included proceeds 
of approximately $79.4 million from our secondary offering of common stock offset by a net decrease in long-term 
borrowings of $5.9 million. Net cash provided by financing activities for fiscal 2001 consisted primarily of proceeds 
from our initial public offering and net increase in long-term borrowings.  
 
As of March 31, 2002, we had unrestricted cash of $11.5 million and total borrowings, including capitalized lease 
obligations, of approximately $99.3 million.  Of these borrowings, we had approximately $61.7 million outstanding 
under our IBM Credit Corporation credit facility and $0.2 million outstanding our US Bank revolving credit facility.  
Effective March 31, 2002 IBM Credit lowered the available borrowings under its facility from $80 million to $65 
million and US Bank lowered the available borrowings under its facility from $30 million to $15 million.  
Borrowings under our two U.S. credit facilities are limited to the lesser of the facility amount or the available 
borrowing base calculated as a percentage of accounts receivable and inventory balances, which limits and may 
restrict our ability to access the full amount of available borrowings.  We also have a $3.2 million credit facility 
serving our Netherlands operations. As of March 31, 2002, we had $0.5 million outstanding under our Netherlands 
credit facility. Each credit facility bears interest on outstanding borrowings at variable interest rates, which as of 
March 31, 2002, were 6.4% for the IBM facility, 5.8% for the US Bank facility, and 5.5% for the Netherlands 
facility.  As of March 31, 2002, we had an aggregate of $4.2 million of additional borrowing availability under our 
credit facilities.  Our IBM credit facility matures in September 2003 and our US Bank credit facility matures in June 
2004.  We have reached agreement on lending facilities, including a revolving credit line and term note, for our 
Thailand operation with Thai Farmers Bank for approximately $7 million to be immediately available from the term 
note.  
 
All of these credit facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets. We are required to meet different financial 
covenants under these facilities, including the ratio of net income to net sales, the ratio of our liabilities to tangible 
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net worth, the ratio of our current assets to current liabilities, and fixed charge coverage ratios specific to each 
agreement.  One agreement tests the ratio of our earnings before net interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization, or EBITDA, less unfinanced expenditures, to our principal and interest payments. The other tests the 
ratio of EBITDA to the sum of our principal and interest, capital expenditures and tax expense. On March 31, 2002, 
we were in compliance with all covenants.  On April 30, 2002, and May 31, 2002, we were not in compliance with 
our tangible net worth covenant under our US Bank credit facility, which if not cured or waived, could have resulted 
in an event of default. We have obtained a one-time waiver of our compliance with this tangible net worth ratio 
covenant from US Bank.  Covenants on our U.S. credit facilities have been reset to encompass current expectations 
of business trends over the remainder of the commitments.  Aggregate borrowing capacity and the borrowing base 
calculation formulas of the arrangements remain unchanged from previous amendments of such facilities.  
 
In addition to our credit facilities, we had other debt obligations totaling $36.9 million as of March 31, 2002.  See 
Notes 7 and 10 to our consolidated financial statements. At March 31, 2002, we were not in compliance with one 
covenant in our capital lease facility with Bank of America.  Waiver of this non-compliance has been obtained, but 
will result in the $7.9 million balance at March 31, 2002, being fully paid off in July 2002. 
 
On May 3, 2002 we announced a definitive agreement with two institutional investors for the private placement of 
up to $50 million of our 6 ½ percent convertible notes with attached warrants to purchase common stock.  Forty 
million dollars of convertible notes may be funded in a series of installments over the next several months, subject to 
maintenance of a minimum conversion price.  The remaining $10 million of convertible notes may be purchased at 
the option of investors at a fixed conversion price.  The initial installment of $5 million was funded on May 10, 
2002, with a conversion price of $2.28, determined from market prices following this funding date. This price is 
below the minimum conversion price for additional funding amounts.  There can be no guarantee we will obtain the 
additional $45 million of convertible notes from the private placement.  
 
Our continued viability depends on our ability to generate additional cash from operations or obtain additional 
sources of funds for working capital.  Our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity depends, in part, on our achieving 
anticipated revenue targets and intended expense reductions from our restructuring activities.  We believe that as a 
result of the restructuring actions we have taken in fiscal 2003 to reduce cash expenditures, the efforts we continue 
to make to increase revenues from continuing customers, as well as efforts to generate new customers in various 
industry sectors, the renegotiated covenants we have obtained under our revolving credit facilities, as well as the 
new agreements we have reached to provide additional borrowing capacity, we have sufficient cash flow to meet our 
needs for fiscal 2003.  We may not achieve these targets or realize the intended expense reductions. If our operating 
goals are not met, we will be required to secure additional financing from lenders or sell additional securities. 
 
We regularly review acquisition and additional facilities expansion or joint venture opportunities, as well as major 
new program opportunities with new or existing customers, any of which may require us to sell additional equity or 
secure additional financing in order to fund the requirement. The sale of additional equity could result in additional 
dilution to our shareholders. We cannot be assured that financing arrangements will be available in amounts or on 
terms acceptable to us. 
 
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS 

Interest Rate Risk 

Our exposure to interest rate risk arises principally from the variable rates associated with our borrowings.  On 
March 31, 2002, we had total borrowings of $63.0 million bearing variable interest rates.  An adverse change of one 
percent in the interest rate of all borrowings, which bear interest at variable rates, would cause us to incur a change 
in interest expense of approximately $630,000 on an annual basis.   

 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk 

Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and the currencies of countries other than the U.S. in 
which we conduct business could adversely affect our financial results.  Except for sales in the Netherlands, 
Singapore and China, our sales are principally denominated in U.S. dollars.  As a result, we have relatively limited 
exposure to foreign currency exchange risk on our sales.  For fiscal 2002, sales denominated in Euros totaled $47.5 
million, sales denominated in Singapore dollars totaled $31.9 million and sales denominated in Chinese renminbi 
totaled $73.5 million.  Costs related to these sales are largely denominated in their respective currencies, thereby 
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limiting our transaction risk exposures.  However, for sales not denominated in U.S. dollars, if there is an increase in 
the rate at which a foreign currency is exchanged for U.S. dollars, it will require more of the foreign currency to 
equal a specified amount of U.S. dollars than before the rate increase.  In such cases, and if we price our products 
and services in the foreign currency, we will receive less in U.S. dollars than we did before the rate increase went 
into effect.  If we price our products and services in U.S. dollars and competitors price their products in local 
currency, an increase in the relative strength of the U.S. dollar could result in our prices being uncompetitive in a 
market where business is transacted in the local currency. 
 
The reported results of our foreign operations will be influenced during their translation into U.S. dollars by 
currency movements against the U.S. dollar.  The result of a uniform 10% strengthening in the value of the U.S. 
dollar from March 31, 2002 and 2001 levels relative to each of the currencies in which our revenues and expenses 
are denominated would result in a decrease in operating income of approximately $334,000 and $379,000, 
respectively, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001.  
 
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002 and  2001, the amount we consider permanently invested in foreign 
subsidiaries and translated into dollars using the year end exchange rate was $44.8 million and $43.7 million, 
respectively, and the potential loss in fair value resulting from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in foreign 
currency exchange rate amounts to $4.1 million and $4.0, respectively.  Actual amounts may differ.   
 
We currently do not hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, however, we may hedge 
such exposures in the future. 
 
Impact of Inflation 

We believe that our results of operations are not dependent upon moderate changes in the inflation rate. 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard 
(SFAS) No. 141, “ Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  Under 
these new standards the pooling of interest method is eliminated, the purchase method of accounting on all business 
combinations completed after June 30, 2001 is required and purchased goodwill is no longer amortized over its 
useful life.  Rather, goodwill will be subject to a periodic impairment test based on its fair value, with a transitional 
impairment test, required to be completed by the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2003.  Any impairment charge 
resulting from the transitional impairment test will be reflected as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle.  SFAS No. 142 was adopted by us as of April 1, 2002.  Prior to adopting this standard, we evaluated our 
goodwill under SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to 
be Disposed of”.  As a result of this evaluation, we recorded goodwill impairment of $24.2 million in fiscal 2002.  
We currently evaluating whether any additional write-downs in goodwill may be required as a result of 
implementing the new accounting standard.  Application of these standards had or will have the following impact on 
our consolidated financial statements: 

• Goodwill recorded on acquisitions subsequent to June 30, 2001 of $17.3 million in connection with Pacific 
Consultants LLC and $1.3 million in connection with MTS Systems Corporation is not being amortized. 

 
• Application of the non-amortization provisions of goodwill is expected to result in an annual increase of 

earnings of approximately $0.8 million in connection with acquisitions consummated prior to June 30, 
2001 for which amortization had previously been recorded. 

 
In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for 
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002.  This 
statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and 
supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be 
Disposed Of”, and the accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 30, 
“Reporting the Results of Operations”, for a disposal of a segment of a business.  The adoption of this 
pronouncement is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations, financial position 
or cash flows. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated 
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States.  The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period.  On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates and adjustments, including those 
related to returns, bad debts, inventories, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring costs, retirement benefits, and 
contingencies and litigation.  Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 
 
Management believes the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect its more significant judgments 
and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. 
 
Bad Debt - We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our 
customers to make required payments.  If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an 
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. 
 
Inventory - We value our inventory on a first-in, first-out basis at the lower of cost or estimated market value.  We 
regularly review inventory quantities on hand and record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based 
primarily on our estimate forecast of product demand, production requirements and our ability to sell back excess 
inventory requirements to our customers.  If assumptions change, additions changes, additional write-downs may be 
required. 
 
Goodwill and Intangible Impairment - In assessing the recoverability of our goodwill and other intangible assets we 
must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the 
respective assets.  These cash flow estimates take into account current customer volumes and the expectation of new 
or renewal projects, historic gross margins, historic working capital parameters and planned capital expenditures.  If 
these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges 
for these assets not previously recorded.  Effective April, 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and we will analyze our goodwill for 
impairment issues in fiscal 2003.  We will be required to perform this analysis on an annual basis going forward.  
During the year ended March 31, 2002, we recorded $24.2 million in impairment losses related to goodwill and 
other intangible assets. 
 
Income Taxes - In determining the carrying value of our net deferred tax assets, we must assess the likelihood of 
sufficient future taxable income in related tax jurisdictions, based on estimates and assumptions to realize the benefit 
of these assets.  If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record 
additional valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets, resulting in additional income tax expense in our 
consolidated statement of operations.  Management evaluates quarterly whether the deferred tax assets may be 
realized and assesses the need for additional valuation allowances or reduction of existing allowances quarterly.  
During the year ended March 31, 2002, we recorded $27.0 million of valuation allowances related to our net 
deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2002. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
PEMSTAR Inc. 
 
(In thousands, except per share data) March 31, 

2002 
 March 31, 

2001 
Assets    
Current assets:    
     Cash and cash equivalents $   11,483  $     5,882 
     Restricted cash 1,423  459 
     Accounts receivable, net 122,752  106,510 
     Recoverable income taxes 3,873  - 
     Inventories, net 92,929  113,421 
     Unbilled services  16,356  9,734 
     Deferred income taxes 45  1,322 
     Prepaid expenses and other        8,507           5,838  
Total current assets 257,368  243,166 
    
Property, plant and equipment, net 99,108  73,806 
    
Goodwill, net 34,678  29,164 
Deferred income taxes 1,111           893 
Other assets        3,459         2,048 
    
Total assets $ 395,724  $ 349,077 
    
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity    
Current liabilities:    
     Bank overdrafts   $           -    $   13,443 
     Accounts payable 79,410  70,791 
     Accrued expenses and other       15,738       12,762 
     Income taxes payable 21  1,197 
     Current maturities of long-term debt 13,999  9,041 
     Current maturities of capital lease obligations      10,865         4,081 
Total current liabilities 120,033  111,315 
    
Long-term debt, less current maturities  71,340  75,136 
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 3,122  9,737 
Other liabilities and deferred credits 7,832  2,177 
    
Shareholders’ equity:    

Common stock, par value $0.01, 150,000 shares authorized; 
shares issued and outstanding; 2002 - 36,701 shares;    
2001 - 28,294 shares  

 
 

367 

 
 

283 
Additional paid-in capital 232,233 137,139 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,131) (2,299) 
Retained (deficit) earnings (36,164) 17,853 
Loans to shareholders          (908)       (2,264) 

         Total shareholders’ equity    193,397    150,712 
   
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 395,724 $ 349,077 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
PEMSTAR Inc. 
 
(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended March 31, 

 2002 2001 2000 
    
Net sales $ 657,493 $ 635,307 $ 393,842 
Costs of goods sold    627,457    581,278    363,974 
Gross profit 30,036 54,029 29,868 
    
Selling, general and administrative expenses 53,351 37,366 21,576 
Amortization 
Goodwill impairment charge 

2,152 
     24,228 

1,961 
              - 

1,281 
              - 

Operating (loss) income (49,695) 14,702 7,011 
    
Other income (expense) - net 829 967 (74) 
Interest expense       (7,077)       (7,550)       (3,588) 
(Loss) income before income taxes (55,943) 8,119 3,349 
    
Income tax (benefit) expense       (1,926)        1,436           698 
Net (loss) income  $  (54,017) $     6,683 $     2,651 
    
Net (loss) income per common share:    
     Basic  $ (1.56) $ 0.29 $ 0.23 
     Diluted   (1.56)  0.25  0.15 
    
Shares used in computing net (loss) income per 

common share: 
   

     Basic 34,717 23,013 11,503 
     Diluted 34,717 26,943 17,167 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
PEMSTAR Inc. 
 

(In thousands) 

       Common Stock   
 Shares     Amount 

Additional 
Paid in 
Capital 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss 

Retained 
Earnings 
(Deficit) 

Loans to 
Shareholders Total 

        
Balance, March 31, 1999 11,270 $ 113 $    7,949 $       (32) $  8,525 $            - $  16,555 
Issuance of common stock in 

employee stock programs 1,565 15 2,410 - - (1,855) 570 
Issuance of common stock 985 10 4,913 - - (1,403) 3,520 
Repurchase of common stock (1) - - - (6) - (6) 
Comprehensive income:        
    Net income - - - - 2,651 - 2,651 
    Foreign currency 

translation adjustment - - - (740) - -         (740) 
    Comprehensive income - - - - - - 1,911 
Other           -         -          123              -             -              -          123 
Balance, March 31, 2000  13,819 138 15,395 (772) 11,170 (3,258) 22,673 
Issuance of common stock in 

employee stock programs 449 4 1,437 - - (200) 1,241 
Payments on loans to 

shareholders - - - - - 1,194 1,194 
Issuance of common stock 9,316 94 93,805 - - - 93,899 
Conversion of redeemable 

stock 4,710 47 26,502 - - - 26,549 
Comprehensive income:        
    Net income - - - - 6,683 - 6,683 
    Foreign currency 

    translation adjustment - - - (1,527) - -        (1,527) 
    Comprehensive income           -         -               -               -              -              -        5,156 
Balance, March 31, 2001 28,294  283 137,139 (2,299) 17,853 (2,264) 150,712 
Issuance of common stock in 

employee stock programs 1,271 12 5,782 - - (108) 5,686 
Payments on loans to 

shareholders - - - - - 1,464 1,464 
Issuance of common stock 6,275 63 79,321 - - - 79,384 
Issuance of common stock 

in connection with  
business acquisitions 861 9 9,991 - - - 10,000 

Comprehensive (loss) 
income:        
Net loss - - - - (54,017) - (54,017) 
Foreign currency 

translation adjustment - - - 168 - -          168 
Comprehensive loss           -         -               -              -              -               -    (53,849) 

Balance, March 31, 2002 36,701 $ 367 $232,233 $  (2,131) $(36,164) $      (908) $193,397 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
PEMSTAR Inc. 

  Year ended March 31, 
(In thousands)  2002 2001 2000 
Cash flows from operating activities:     
     Net (loss) income  $ (54,017) $   6,683 $    2,651 
     Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net      
          cash used in operating activities:     
          Depreciation  18,299 12,097 7,455 
          Amortization   3,085 1,961 1,281 
          Goodwill impairment charge  24,228 - - 
          Deferred income taxes  1,059 (146) (2,179) 
          Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment  (49) (417) (42) 
          Issuance of stock options for services   - - 150 
          Other deferred credits  (356) (292) (571) 
          Change in operating assets and liabilities:     
               Accounts receivable  (12,596) (41,563) (23,828) 
               Inventories  24,986 (43,222) (22,962) 
               Recoverable income taxes  (3,873) - 1,889 
               Unbilled services   (6,622) (7,804) 698 
               Prepaid expenses and other  (2,318) (4,816) (1,041) 
               Accounts payable  7,554 21,149 15,404 
               Accrued expenses and other            313        2,151          870 
                    Net cash used in operating activities  (307) (54,219) (20,225) 
Cash flows used in investing activities:     
     (Increase) decrease in restricted cash  (1,090) 10 155 
     Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (24,361) (21,225) (39,473) 
     Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  2,178 1,073 122 
     Purchases of property, plant and equipment      (37,930)     (42,542)    (13,415) 
                    Net cash used in investing activities  (61,203) (62,684) (52,611) 
Cash flows from financing activities:     
     Bank overdrafts  (13,504) 3,242 8,569 
     Proceeds from common stock sales   79,384 93,899 - 
     Proceeds from employee stock sales  5,686 1,241 802 
     Payments on loans to shareholders  1,464 1,194 - 
     Repurchase of common stock  - - (6) 
     Proceeds from private placement offering  - - 18,000 
     Proceeds from grants  550          -         - 
     Proceeds from sale and leaseback  911  4,060 - 
     Principal payments on long-term borrowings  (60,072) (94,457) (4,645) 
     Proceeds from long-term borrowings  54,156 110,968 52,892 
     Debt placement costs        (1,411)         (635)         (878) 
                     Net cash provided by financing activities  67,164 119,512 74,734 
     
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash             (53)          546              2 

 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  5,601 3,155 1,900 
Cash and cash equivalents:     
     Beginning of year         5,882       2,727          827 
     End of year  $   11,483 $    5,882 $    2,727 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PEMSTAR Inc. 
(In thousands, except per share data) 
 
Note 1.  Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies  

Business – PEMSTAR Inc. (the “Company) is a leading provider of electronics manufacturing services to original 
equipment manufacturers in the communications, computing, data storage, industrial and medical equipment sectors.  
The Company provides its services to customers on a global basis through manufacturing facilities located in North 
America, Asia, Europe and South America. 
 
Principles of consolidation – The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its 
majority-owned subsidiaries and the Company’s share of net earnings or losses of 50 percent or less owned 
companies accounted for using the equity method.  All material intercompany accounts and transactions are 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Revenue recognition – Revenue from the sales of products is recognized when the product is shipped to the 
customer.  In limited circumstances, although the physical product remains on the Company’s premises at the 
request of the customer, when title to and risks and rewards of ownership have contractually passed to the customer, 
revenue is recognized in accordance with the guidance of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101. Revenue from design, 
development and engineering services is recognized when the services are performed and collectibility is reasonably 
certain.  Such services provided under fixed price contracts are accounted for using the percentage of completion 
method as outlined in SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Contract-Type and Certain Production-Type 
Contracts”.  Revenue recognized in excess of billed amounts under fixed price contracts or unbilled engineering 
services is classified as unbilled services in the balance sheet.   
 
Cash and cash equivalents – The Company considers all highly liquid debt securities  purchased with a maturity of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents.  Cash equivalents are recorded at cost which approximates market value.   
 
Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market and include freight-in, 
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead costs.   
 
Property, plant  and equipment – Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost.  Depreciation is computed using 
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

                                                                                                                                              Number of  
                                                                                                                                                         Years       
 Buildings and improvements………..…………………………………………    4 to 40 
 Machinery and equipment……………………………………………………..    4 to 7 
 Furniture and fixtures …………………………………………………………    2 to 10 
 Computer hardware and software………………………………………….….    4 
 
Amortization of assets acquired under capital leases is included with depreciation expense. 
 
Goodwill – Goodwill associated with acquisitions prior to June 30, 2001 is being amortized over 20 years using the 
straight-line method.  In accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets”, goodwill acquired after June 30, 2001 is not amortized but is tested annually for 
impairment.    In accordance with SFAS No.142, amortization of goodwill associated with acquisitions prior to June 
30, 2001 will be discontinued after March 31, 2002.  After March 31, 2002 this goodwill will be tested annually for 
impairment.  Amortization of goodwill in 2002 and 2001 was $2,152 and $1,392, respectively.  
 
Long-lived assets – The Company follows SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.”  SFAS No. 121 requires that long-lived assets, including goodwill, 
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable.  The Company evaluates potential impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the assets with the 
estimated undiscounted cash flows associated with them.  If an impairment exists, the Company measures the 
impairment utilizing discounted cash flows.   
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Estimated warranty claim – The Company sells its products with a warranty that provides for repairs or 
replacements of any defective workmanship for a three-month period after the sale.  Based upon historical 
experience, the accrual for warranty claims is not material at March 31, 2002 and 2001.   
 
Foreign currency –  For subsidiaries where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, all foreign currency asset and 
liability amounts are remeasured into U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchange rates, except for inventories, prepaid 
expenses, property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, which are remeasured at historical rates.  Foreign 
currency income and expenses are remeasured at average exchange rates in effect during the year, except for 
expenses related to balance sheet amounts remeasured at historical exchange rates.  Exchange gains and losses 
arising from remeasurement of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are included in income 
in the period in which they occur.   
 
For subsidiaries where the local currency is the functional currency, assets and liabilities denominated in local 
currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at end of period exchange rates, and the resultant translation adjustments 
are reported, net of their related tax effects, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in 
stockholders’ equity.  Assets and liabilities denominated in other than the local currency are remeasured into the 
local currency prior to translation into U.S. dollars, and the resultant exchange gains or losses are included in income 
in the period in which they occur.  Income and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates in 
effect during the period.     
 
Comprehensive income (loss) reflects the change in equity of a business during a period from transactions and other 
events and circumstances from non-owner sources.  For the Company, comprehensive income (loss) represents net 
income (loss) adjusted for foreign currency translation adjustments.   
 
Shipping and handling fees – The Company classifies costs associated with shipping and handling fees as a 
component of cost of goods sold.  Customer billings related to shipping and handling fees are reported as net sales.  
 
Income taxes – The Company accounts for income taxes following the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting 
for Income Taxes.”  SFAS No. 109 requires that deferred income taxes be recognized for the tax consequences in 
future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at 
each year end, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences 
are expected to affect taxable earnings.  Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax 
assets to the amount more likely than not to be realized.  The effect of changes in tax rates is recognized in the 
period in which the rate change occurs.   
 
Research and development – Research and development costs are expensed when incurred and totaled $1,015, $489 
and $410 for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.   
 
Use of estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Stock-based compensation – The Company has adopted the pro-forma disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and accordingly, accounts for stock options issued to employees 
using the intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock 
Issued to Employees.”  Compensation expense is recorded on the date stock options are granted only if the current 
fair market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option.   
 
Net income (loss) per common share – The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per 
Share.”  Basic net income (loss) per share is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares 
issued and outstanding during each year. Diluted net income (loss) per share amounts assume conversion, exercise 
or issuance of all potential common stock instruments (stock options as discussed in Note 14 and convertible  
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preferred stock as discussed in Note 12).  The following table reflects the components of common shares 
outstanding in accordance with SFAS No. 128: 
 Year ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic…….……..…  34,717   23,013  11,503  
      Effect of dilutive securities: 
           Preferred stock conversion……………………………….……..... - 1,677 4,144 
           Stock options…………………………………………….…..……           -   2,253   1,520 
      Shares used in computing net income 
           (loss) per common share – diluted…………………….……..…... 34,717 26,943 17,167 

 
New Accounting Pronouncements – In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 
No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  Under these new 
standards the pooling of interest method is eliminated, the purchase method of accounting on all business 
combinations completed after June 30, 2001 is required and purchased goodwill is no longer amortized over its 
useful life.  Rather, goodwill will be subject to a periodic impairment test based on its fair value.  Any impairment 
charge resulting from the transitional impairment test will be reflected as a cumulative effect of a change in 
accounting principle.  SFAS No. 142 was adopted by the Company as of April 1, 2002.  Prior to adopting this 
standard, the Company evaluated its goodwill under SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived 
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of”.  As a result of this evaluation, the Company recorded a 
goodwill impairment charge of $24,228 in fiscal 2002.  The Company is currently evaluating whether any additional 
write-downs in goodwill may be required as a result of implementing the new accounting standard.  Application of 
these standards had or will have the following impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements: 

• Goodwill recorded on acquisitions subsequent to June 30, 2001 of $17,356 in connection with Pacific 
Consultants LLC and $1,257 in connection with MTS Systems Corporation is not being amortized. 

 
• Application of the non-amortization provisions of goodwill is expected to result in an annual increase of 

earnings of approximately $840 in connection with acquisitions consummated prior to June 30, 2001 for 
which amortization had previously been recorded. 

 
In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for 
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002.  This 
statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and 
supersedes SFAS No. 121,  and the accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) 
Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations”, for a disposal of a segment of a business.  The adoption of 
this pronouncement is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, 
financial position or cash flows.  

Reclassification – Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.  
These reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net income or shareholders’ equity.   

Note 2.  Acquisitions 

In June 1999, the Company acquired Quadrus, Inc., a division of Bell Microproducts, Inc.  Quadrus is a provider of 
electronic manufacturing services to original equipment manufacturers.  The purchase price of $34,966 was funded 
through the issuance of Series B preferred stock in the aggregate amount of $18,000 to certain of the Company’s 
existing investors, with the remaining amount funded by borrowing under the Company’s operating line of credit.  
The transaction was accounted for as a purchase.  Accordingly, the net assets and operating results have been 
included in the Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition.  The excess of the purchase price over 
the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired of $12,346 had been recorded as goodwill  prior to the remaining 
unamortized balance of $10,603 being written off in March 2002 as a result of the Company’s analysis of 
impairment.     
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In August 2000, the Company acquired Turtle Mountain Corporation.  Turtle Mountain is an electronics 
manufacturing service provider for commercial and military customers.  The purchase price of $20,638, including 
liabilities assumed, was funded with proceeds of a term loan of $9,500 with the remainder borrowed under the 
Company’s operating line of credit.  The transaction was accounted for as a purchase.  Accordingly, the net assets 
and operating results have been included in the Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition.  The 
excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired of $9,680 has been recorded as 
goodwill and is being amortized over an estimated useful life of 20 years.  In September 2001, in connection with 
the terms of the purchase agreement, the Company was required to pay additional contingent consideration, which 
had the effect of increasing the purchase price and goodwill by $750.  
 
In May 2001, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of U.S. Assemblies New England, 
Inc., which operates through an 85,000 square foot facility located in Taunton, Massachusetts. The purchase price of 
$14,522, including $1,646 of assumed indebtedness was funded under the Company’s operating line of credit.  The 
transaction was accounted for as a purchase.  Accordingly, the net assets and operating results have been included in 
the Company financial statements from the date of acquisition.  The excess of the purchase price over the estimated 
fair value of the net assets acquired of $11,913 was recorded as goodwill prior to the remaining unamortized balance 
of $11,367 being written off in March 2002 as a result of the Company’s analysis of impairment.  
 
In September 2001, the Company purchased the membership interests and business of Pacific Consultants LLC (a 
provider of electromechanical design and test consulting services).  The initial purchase price was approximately 
$20,642, including common stock valued at $10,000, cash and costs of $6,792, and cash or common stock of $3,850 
payable up to two years from the date of the acquisition.  The purchase agreement provides for additional adjustment 
of the purchase price, payable in cash or common stock, up to an additional $40,000, if earnings targets are met for 
the acquired business in the two years following the close. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase.  The 
excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired of $17,356 was recorded as 
goodwill, which has not been amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142.  
 
In November 2001, the Company purchased certain assets from MTS Systems Corporation including equipment 
located in Chaska, Minnesota.  The purchase price of $3,647 was funded under the Company’s operating line of 
credit.  The transaction was recorded as a purchase.  Accordingly, the net assets and operating results have been 
included in the Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition.  The excess of purchase price over the 
fair value of net assets acquired of $1,257 was recorded as goodwill and has not been amortized in accordance with 
SFAS No. 142.    
 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of 
acquisition for acquisitions since adoption of SFAS No. 141, the Pacific Consultants LLP and MTS Systems 
Corporation transactions. 
 

Current assets………………………………………... $   6,585 
Property, plant and equipment………………………. 1,178 
Intangible assets not subject to amortization………... 100 
Goodwill……………………………………………... 18,613 
Current liabilities…………………………………….. (2,235) 
Noncurrent liabilities…………………………………        (494) 
Net assets acquired $ 23,747 

 
The following unaudited pro forma combined summary statement of operations for the years ended March 31, 2002, 
2001 and 2000 was prepared in accordance with APB No. 16 and assumes the acquisitions had occurred at the 
beginning of the periods presented.  The following pro forma data reflect adjustments for interest expense, 
amortization of goodwill, where applicable, and depreciation of fixed assets.  The unaudited pro forma financial 
information is provided for informational purposes only and does not purport to be indicative of the future results of 
the Company.   
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Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Operations 

   Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Net sales……………………………………….………… $  674,016 $  650,904 $ 436,891 
      Net income (loss)..…………………………….……..….. (53,767) 6,944 218 
    
      Net income (loss) per share – basic…………….….…….. $      (1.55) $       0.30   $      0.02 
      Net income (loss) per share – diluted………….…..…..… (1.55) 0.26 0.01 

 
Note 3.  Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable consists of the following: 
 

 March 31, 
 2002 2001 
      Accounts receivable……………………………….……….………. $  131,476 $  107,744 
      Less allowance for doubtful accounts………………………..……..        (8,724)        (1,234) 
 $  122,752 $  106,510 

 
Note 4.  Inventories  

Inventories consist of the following:   
 March 31, 
 2002 2001 
      Raw materials…………………………………………………...…. $    85,587 $    94,971 
      Work in process…………………….…….………………………... 8,763 11,042 
      Finished goods…………………………………………………..…. 5,255 9,562 
      Less allowance for inventory obsolescence…………………..…….        (6,676)        (2,154) 
 $    92,929 $  113,421 

 
Note 5.  Property, Plant and Equipment, Net  

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following: 
 March 31, 
 2002 2001 
      Land………………………………………………..…….…....……. $     3,027 $     1,812 
      Buildings and improvements…………………….…………….….... 27,362 15,860 
      Machinery and equipment………………………….………….….... 73,046 54,150 
      Computer hardware and software…………………..…....…….….... 24,091 12,360 
      Construction in progress…………………………..….……………..      10,113      11,538    
 137,639 95,720 
      Less accumulated depreciation…………………….………….….…     (38,531)     (21,914) 
 $   99,108 $   73,806 

 
Note 6.  Goodwill, Net 

Goodwill consists of the following: 
 March 31, 
 2002 2001 
      Goodwill………..………………………………………..…………. $   36,538 $   31,570 
      Less accumulated amortization…..……………………..…………..       (1,860)       (2,406) 
 $   34,678 $   29,164 
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Note 7.  Financing Arrangements  
 
Long-term debt consists of the following: 

 March 31, 
 2002 2001 

Domestic revolving credit facilities, interest at prime plus a margin 
ranging up to 163 basis points or LIBOR plus a margin ranging 
from 175 to 350 basis points (6.39% at March 31, 2002 and 8.91% 
at March 31, 2001)………………………………………….….…… $   61,947 $   61,200 

Foreign revolving credit facilities, interest rates ranging from 5.36% to 
5.85% or LIBOR plus a margin of 150 basis points (5.5% at March 
31, 2002 and 7.0% at March 31, 2001)……..………………..……... 3,283 1,597 

Note payable, paid in full during fiscal 
2002.……...………………………………...……………..….……... - 8,500 

Notes payable bearing interest ranging from 6.8% to 10.8%, due in 
monthly payments of principal and interest of $145 through 
September 2003 and $90 through December 2006, with a balloon 
payment of $790 due October 2003.  The Company has an option to 
extend the balloon payment for 24 months.  The notes are secured 
by equipment…………………………………………………....…... 7,662 3,855 

Foreign notes payable, interest 2.8% due June 2002...….….…….…….... 6,894 2,742 
Bonds payable to the City of Rochester with variable interest rates 

ranging from 1.85% to 2.10%, interest due monthly.  Annual 
principal payments ranging from $155 to $575 are due through  
June 2018………………………………..…………………....….….. 4,445 4,990 

Other……………………………………………………………………...        1,108         1,293 
 85,339 84,177 
Less current maturities…………………………………………………...     (13,999)       (9,041) 
 $   71,340 $   75,136 

 
Payment of the bonds is secured by irrevocable letters of credit in favor of the trustee in the amount of $5,081 
expiring August 2003.  The Company is required to maintain letters of credit sufficient to pay all outstanding 
principal and interest under the bonds.  Interest on the bonds is variable and is payable monthly until, at the option of 
the Company with the consent of US Bank, the rate is fixed (conversion date).  In the event the Company exercises 
its option to convert the interest rate on the bonds from a variable rate to a fixed rate, a remarketing agent, currently 
FBS Investment Services, Inc., shall determine the fixed rate in accordance with a remarketing agreement.  Upon 
exercise of this option, a mandatory tender shall occur on which date the bonds are called and reissued.  Prior to the 
conversion date, the holders of the bonds may require the trustee to purchase the bonds at a price equal to the 
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon.  Upon presentation for redemption, the remarketing agent 
will attempt to resell the bonds at a price that is not less than par.  Bond sinking funds and proceeds from the bonds, 
to the extent unused, are reported as restricted cash. 
 
Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 
 

      Year ending March 31:  
            2003 $  13,999 
            2004 63,931 
            2005 1,421 
            2006 1,287 
            2007 1,166 
            Thereafter       3,535 
 $  85,339 

 
The Company has Revolving Credit Facilities with IBM Credit Corporation and US Bank totaling $80,000  
($65,000 – “ Revolver A” and $15,000 – “Revolver B”, respectively) for revolving credit loans and letters of credit 
which expire on Revolver A – June 2003 and Revolver B – June 2004.  Advances under the Revolving Credit 
Facilities, which are limited to the lesser of the facility amount or the available borrowing base calculated as a 
percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory balances, bear interest at prime or LIBOR plus a margin 
depending on the ratio of consolidated senior debt to EBITDA.  The Company is obligated to pay a monthly fee of 
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0.25% to 0.375% on the unused portion of the facilities.  The Revolving Credit Facilities are collateralized by 
substantially all domestic non-real estate assets of the Company.  The lender for Revolver A is also a major 
customer of the Company.  In addition, the Company has letters of credit totaling $8,907 outstanding as of March 
31, 2002.  Restricted cash balances of $946  relate to certain letters of credit outstanding  at March 31, 2002.  The 
financing arrangements are subject to certain covenants that require the Company to maintain certain financial 
ratios, including minimum liquidity and debt coverage, and limit investments and cash distributions.    
 
The Company also has separate available lines of credit in certain foreign locations totaling $8,090, due at various 
dates through March 2003.  Advances under these lines of credit bear interest at fixed and variable rates ranging 
from 2.8% to 5.9% at March 31, 2002.  The lines of credit are secured by  certain foreign inventory, receivables, 
fixed assets and corporate guarantee of the Company, in one instance.   
 
Notes payable totaling $869 are subordinated to the Revolving Credit Facilities.  These notes require the 
maintenance of restricted cash balances  shown as $477 and $459 in restricted cash and $198 and $240 in other 
assets at March 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
 
Note 8.  Other Income (Expense) – Net  
 
The other income and expense consists of the following:   

   Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Foreign currency gains………………………………………………. $     691 $      507 $    243  
      Minority interest in net (income)/loss of consolidated subsidiaries….  - 84 (191) 
      Net other income (expense)……………………………………….....        138         376      (126) 
 $     829 $      967 $     (74) 

 
Note 9.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, and accounts receivable and payable approximate fair value due to 
the short-term maturity of these instruments.  The carrying amount of the Company’s revolving line of credit and 
long-term notes approximate fair value because the majority of the amounts outstanding accrue interest at variable 
rates.   
 
Note 10.  Commitments and Contingencies  

The Company has various capital and operating leases which expire on various dates through 2013.  Future 
minimum payments under both capital leases and operating leases are as follows: 
 

 
    Year Ending March 31, 

Capital 
Leases 

Operating 
Leases 

        2003……………………………………………………..….. $   12,219 $   12,628 
        2004……………………………………………………..….. 2,668 10,077 
        2005……………………………………………………..….. 673 7,874 
        2006……………………………………………………..….. - 7,055 
        2007……………………………………………………..….. - 4,226 
        Thereafter……………………………………………..…….                -      10,077 
    Total minimum lease payments…………………………….…. 15,560 $   51,937 
    Less amount representing interest……………………………..       (1,573)  
    Present value of minimum lease payment…………………….. 13,987  
    Less current portion……………………………………………     (10,865)  
 $     3,122  
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Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts for capitalized leases:  
 March 31, 
 2002 2001 
      Machinery and equipment………………………..…….……… $ 14,154 $ 12,294 
      Furniture and fixtures…………………………………...……... 649 645 
      Computer hardware and software………………………...……      8,328      5,049 
 23,131 17,988 
      Less accumulated depreciation………………………..……….    (6,085)    (3,479) 
 $ 17,046 $ 14,509 
   

 
Total rent expense recognized under operating leases for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 totaled 
$10,039, $5,175 and $3,027, respectively.   
 
Note 11.  Income Taxes 
 
Income (loss) before income taxes consisted of the following: 

 Year ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Domestic…………….……………………….……………..…. $(57,885) $    3,403 $   2,485 
      Foreign………………………………………….……….….….      1,942       4,716         864 
 $(55,943) $    8,119 $   3,349 

 
The provision for income taxes consisted of the following: 

 Year ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2002 
      Current:    
            Domestic……………………….…………………….……. $ (5,638) $  2,500 $  2,378 
            Foreign………………………………….…………….……     2,653     (918)        499 
 (2,985)   1,582     2,877 
      Deferred:    
            Domestic…………………………….……………….……. 2,418 (1,247)   (1,678) 
            Foreign……………………………….………...…..………    (1,359)     1,101      (501) 
     1,059       (146)    (2,179) 
 $ (1,926) $  1,436 $     698 

 
A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the statutory rates to the reported income tax provision is as 
follows: 

 Year ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Computed  “expected” tax rate…………………….…….……. $(19,021) $  2,761 $  1,139 
      Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:    
            State taxes, net of credits and federal income tax benefit..... (1,608) 105 (289) 
            Benefit of foreign sales/extraterritorial income exclusion.... (291) (244) - 
            Foreign taxes………………………………………………. (7,896) (1,284) (296) 
            Valuation allowance……………………………..…...….… 26,962 - - 
            Other………………...……………………………..….……          (72)           98        144 
 $  (1,926) $   1,436 $     698 
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A summary of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows: 
   March 31,  
 2002 2001 
      Deferred tax assets:   
            Allowance for doubtful accounts………………………… $    2,694 $      456 
            Allowance for inventory obsolescence………………..…. 1,667 700 
            Goodwill………………………...………………….…….. 7,914 - 
            Deferred revenue…………………………………………. 886 730 
            Domestic net operating losses……………………………. 5,476 - 
            State tax credits…………………………………………... 1,142 866 
            Foreign expenses for book purposes..………………….… 1,539  
            Foreign net operating losses……………………………… 11,025 1,002 
            Other……………………………………………..………..           633          557 
         Total deferred tax assets…………………………………….     32,976 4,311 
      Deferred tax liabilities:  
            Accelerated depreciation…………………………………. (1,477) (300) 
            Foreign expenses accelerated for tax purposes……...…... (2,878)     (1,611) 
            Other………………………………………………………          (503)        (185) 
         Total deferred tax liabilities..………………………………. (4,858) (2,096) 
      Valuation allowance:   
            Domestic…………………………………………….……. (18,432) - 
            Foreign……………………………………………….……       (8,530)              - 
         Total valuation allowance…………………………………..     (26,962)              - 
  
      Net deferred tax assets $     1,156 $   2,215 

 
No provision has been made for U.S. income taxes related to undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which 
are intended to be permanently reinvested.  The Company has approximately $22,451 of domestic net operating loss 
carryforwards, which will expire in 2022.  Of this $22,451 carryforward total, $8,455 will result in tax benefits that 
will not reduce tax expense on current earnings, but rather will increase additional paid-in-capital.  The Company 
has approximately $8,123 of foreign net operating loss carryforwards that have an unlimited carryforward period, 
and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $25,141 that will expire from 2011 to 2012.  The state tax credit 
carryforwards of $1,730 expire at varying dates through 2016.  The foreign tax expense in China was decreased by 
$231 ($0.02 and $0.01 per share on a basic and diluted basis, respectively) in fiscal 2000 by $480 ($.02 and $.02 per 
share on a basic and diluted basis, respectively) in fiscal 2001 and by $323 ($.01 and $.01 per share on a basic and 
diluted basis, respectively) in fiscal year 2002 as a result of the benefit of a tax holiday.  This holiday ran at 50% 
relief of the normal 15% income tax rate through December 31, 2000, and will continue at the 7.5% rate thereafter 
through December 31, 2002.  The foreign tax expense in Singapore was decreased by $774 ($.02 and $.02 per share 
on a basic and diluted basis, respectively) in fiscal 2002, as the result of the benefit of a tax holiday.  This holiday 
will continue at full relief of the normal 24.5% income tax rate through March 31, 2005. 
 
Note 12.  Mandatory Redeemable and Convertible Preferred Stock 
 
The Company has authorized 5,000 shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock.  As of March 31, 2000, 667 shares, of 
which 570 were outstanding, were designated as Series A, and 1,000 shares were designated and outstanding as 
Series B.  The preferred stock was automatically converted into 4,710 shares of common stock at conversion prices 
of $5.00 per share for Series A and $6.00 per share for Series B for upon the completion of the Company’s initial 
public offering in August 2000. 
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Note 13.  Geographic and Concentration of Credit Risk Information  

The Company derives its revenue from one reportable segment, electronic manufacturing services.  The Company 
classifies sales geographically based upon country from which the final product is delivered.  The following is a 
summary of net sales and long-lived assets by geographic location:  

     Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Net sales:    
          Americas…..…………………………………… $   478,965 $   529,907 $   318,616 
          Asia…………………………………………….. 128,602 72,982 44,314 
          Europe…………………………………………..        49,926        32,418        30,912 
 $   657,493 $   635,307 $   393,842 
      Long-lived assets:    
          Americas…..…………………………………… $     94,590 $     67,018 $     42,463 
          Asia…………………………………………….. 40,757 33,860 10,421 
          Europe…………………………………………..          3,009          5,033          4,124 
 $   138,356 $   105,911 $     57,008 

 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of 
trade receivables.  Sales of the Company’s products are concentrated among specific customers in the same industry.  
The Company generally does not require collateral.  The Company considers concentrations of credit risk in 
establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts and believes the recorded amount is adequate.   
 
Customers that accounted for more that 10% of consolidated net sales are as follows: 

     Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
  
Customer A………………………………………… 24.8% 23.0% 37.0% 
Customer B………………………………………… 14.0 16.0 15.0 
Customer C………………………………………… 5.9 11.0 4.8 

 
As of March 31, 2002 and 2001, receivables from these customers represented 38% and 29% of total accounts 
receivable, respectively.   
 
Note 14.  Shareholders’ Equity 
 
In August and September of 2000, the Company sold 9,280 shares in an initial public offering from which the 
Company received net proceeds of $93,617.  In June 2001, the Company sold 6,275 shares in a follow-on public 
offering from which the Company received net proceeds of $79,384. 
 
The Company has 498 shares of common stock available for grant or sale to board members and employees under 
incentive stock option and purchase plans approved by shareholders.  Current exercisable options are granted at 
prices equal to the fair market value on the dates of grant.  All options are exercisable over a ten-year period. 
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Grants under stock option plans are accounted for using APB No. 25 and related interpretations.  Accordingly, no 
compensation cost has been recognized for grants under these stock option plans since the exercise price equaled the 
fair market value of the stock on the date of grant.  Had compensation cost for stock option grants been based on the 
grant date fair values of awards (the method described in SFAS No. 123), reported net income would have been 
reduced to the pro forma amounts reported below.   

 Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
      Net income (loss):    
          As reported..……………………………….…...… $(54,017) $   6,683 $   2,651 
          Pro forma...……………...……………………….. (56,836) 4,207 (4,499) 
      Basic earnings (loss) per share:    
          As reported…………………………...……...…... $ (1.56) $  0.29 $    0.23 
          Pro forma…………………………………..……. (1.64) 0.18 (0.39) 
      Diluted earnings (loss) per share:    
          As reported……………………………….…...…. $ (1.56) $  0.25 $  0.15 
          Pro forma…………...………………..……..……. (1.64) 0.16 (0.39) 

 
The fair value of each option grant has been estimated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes option pricing model 
with the following weighted average assumptions:  dividend rate of 0% for all years; risk-free interest rates of 
5.42%, 5.70% and 6.13% for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, volatility factor of expected market price of our 
common stock of 0.8, 1.4 and 0.5 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and expected lives of ten years.   
 
Following is a summary of stock option activity for the fiscal years ended March 31: 
 

 Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
 

Shares 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price Shares 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Outstanding, beginning of year.......  4,419 $  5.93 3,845 $  3.91 2,173 $  1.40 
Granted ...........................................  704 11.30 1,189 11.44 3,269 4.39 
Exercised/forfeited..........................  (1,658) 5.05    (615) 3.96 (1,597) 1.47 
Outstanding, end of year.................   3,465 7.44  4,419 5.93  3,845 3.91 
Exercisable, end of year..................  2,074 5.49 3,081 5.08 3,029 4.18 
Weighted average fair value per 

share of options granted during 
the year........................................  $ 9.38 - $10.92 - $ 2.35 - 

 
At March 31, 2002, the options outstanding have average remaining contractual lives and exercise prices as follows:   
 

Shares Average Contractual Life Exercise Price 
1,971 7.1 years $ 0.33 - $5.00 
   371 9.3 years $ 5.01 – 10.99 
   745 8.3 years $ 11.00 
   378 9.2 years $ 11.01 - 23.31 

 
As of March 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had loans outstanding to shareholders in connection with the exercise 
of stock options for the purchase of 176 shares and 378, respectively.  Loans totaling $200, $108 and $600 are due 
in December, 2002, November, 2003 and March, 2005, respectively, and bear interest at 2.71% to 6.01%.  The loans 
are secured by the shares of common stock purchased for full recourse against the respective shareholder’s personal 
assets.   
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Note 15.  Employee Benefit Plans 
 
Retirement Plans 

The Company sponsors various employee retirement savings plans that allow qualified employees to provide for 
their retirement on a tax-deferred basis.  In accordance with the terms of the retirement savings plans, the Company 
is required to match certain of the participants’ contributions and/or provide employer contributions based on the 
Company’s performance and other factors.  Employer contributions for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2001 and 
2000 totaled, $1,366, $1,063 and $413, respectively.   
 
The Company sponsors a defined benefit retirement plan program at its Netherlands facility.  As of March 31, 2002, 
the fair value of the plan assets and projected benefit obligations were $3,773 and $3,511, respectively.  Expenses 
associated with this plan totaled $122 and $295 for the years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.   
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

During 2001, the Company established an employee stock discount purchase plan that provides for the sale of up to 
500 shares of the company’s stock at discounted purchase prices, subject to certain limitations.  The cost per share 
under this plan is 85 percent of the market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of purchase, as 
defined.  During the years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001, 135 and 36 shares of common stock were issued to 
employees pursuant to this plan.  The weighted average fair value of shares sold in 2002 and 2001, was $10.06 and 
$7.85. 

 
Note 16.  Supplemental Cash Flow Information 

 Year Ended March 31, 
 2002 2001 2000 
Supplemental disclosures for cash flow information:   

Cash payments for:   
Interest .......................................................................................  $  7,234 $   7,344 $  3,555
Income taxes ..............................................................................  1,812 1,797 1,197

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:   
Property and equipment acquired through capital lease agreements.  $  5,230 $ 11,166 $  2,514
Purchase of minority interest in consolidated subsidiary through 

issuance of common stock (acquired 30% and 25% interests by 
issuing 783 and 653 shares in August, 1998 and January, 2000, 
respectively)...............................................................................  - - 3,263

Common stock of issued to acquire Pacific Consultants LLC……... 10,000 - -
 
Note 17.  Cash Requirements 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a 
going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of 
business.  The Company incurred an operating loss of approximately $49,700 for the year ended March 31, 2002, 
which included approximately $24,228 as a result of a goodwill impairment charge in the fourth quarter.  The 
Company continues to evaluate its operations and has implemented certain restructuring activities prior to and 
subsequent to its fiscal year end to improve its operating results.  Although the operating loss for fiscal 2002 was not 
unexpected given the downturn in the economy after September 11, 2001 and the resultant impact on several large 
customers of the Company in certain industry sectors, the Company’s ability to continue to fund it operations and to 
grow the business depends on its ability to generate additional cash from operations or obtain additional sources of 
funds for working capital.   
 
The domestic revolving credit facilities require the Company to maintain certain financial covenants for which the 
Company was not in compliance at December 31, 2001.  The Company was successful in obtaining waivers for the 
violations; however, there is no assurance that such waivers, if needed, will be available from the Company’s 
lenders in the future.  The Company, subsequent to year end, has renegotiated its financial covenants pertaining to 
the revolving credit facilities with the lenders in conjunction with its fiscal 2003 operating plan.  The Company’s 
operating plan includes the continued implementation of its restructuring program initiated toward the end of its 

 
 36 



2002 fiscal year to further improve the operating performance as well as initiatives to reduce specific cash 
expenditures related to general and administrative expenses.   
 
The Company is dependent upon achieving certain revenue and expense targets in their fiscal 2003 operating plan.  
The Company expects to meet its financial projections for the 2003 fiscal year and, if necessary, to continue to 
secure additional financing from its lenders or sell additional Company equity securities; however, there can be no 
assurance that such funding can be obtained.   
 
Subsequent to year end, the Company entered in a Securities Purchase Agreement (the Agreement) with two 
investors under which the Company agreed to sell, in a private placement, up to $50,000 of 6½% convertible senior 
subordinated notes together with related seven year warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.  
Each issuance of notes will include warrants which provide for 30% warrant coverage with an exercise price equal 
to the applicable conversion price of the respective note issuance.  In May 2002, the Company advanced $5,000 of 
notes under the terms of the Agreement with a conversion price of $2.28 and related seven year warrants to purchase 
1,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share.  Management was also 
successful in obtaining a credit facility with a foreign bank for borrowings of up to approximately $6,200 in June 
2002. 
 
In addition, in June 2002 the Company reached agreement with a customer to recover approximately $10,400 for 
inventories purchased by the Company under certain customer purchase orders for expected production 
requirements, which were subsequently revised or cancelled resulting in excess inventory quantities.  Under terms of 
the agreement, the Company will receive payment for these inventories in July 2002. 
 
Management believes that as a result of the restructuring actions it has taken to reduce cash expenditures, the efforts 
it continues to make to increase revenues from continuing customers as well as successful efforts to generate new 
customers in various industry sectors, the renegotiated covenants it has obtained under its revolving credit facilities, 
as well as the new agreements it has reached to provide additional borrowing capacity, it will meet its fiscal 2003 
financial plan.  Management further believes that the reduction in expense will not have a material adverse impact 
on its revenue growth.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders.   
PEMSTAR Inc.  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PEMSTAR Inc. as of March 31, 2002 and 2001, 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended March 31, 2002.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles use 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.   
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of PEMSTAR Inc. at March 31, 2002 and 2001 and the consolidated results of their operations 
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Ernst & Young LLP 
 
Minneapolis, Minnesota 
May 13, 2002, except for Note 17, 
 as to which the date is June 28, 2002 
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED) 
PEMSTAR Inc. 
 
 
The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly financial information of PEMSTAR for the quarterly periods in 
fiscal 2002 and 2001. Historically, we have experienced some seasonal variation in net sales, with net sales typically 
being highest in the quarter ended December 31 and lowest in the quarter ended March 31. This seasonal variation 
reflects the order patterns of our largest customers, who typically order a higher proportion of their annual 
production in their final fiscal quarter. This variation may be offset in part by internal growth and acquisitions. This 
information has been derived from our monthly consolidated financial statements which are unaudited, but, in the 
opinion of management, fairly represent our financial performance. This information should be read in conjunction 
with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes contained elsewhere in this report. The operating 
results for any previous quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. 
 
Quarter Ended 
(In thousands, except per share data) 

Mar. 31, 
2002 

Dec. 31, 
2001 

Sept. 30, 
2001 

June 30, 
2001 

Mar. 31, 
2001 

Dec. 31, 
2000 

Sept. 30, 
2000 

June 30, 
2000 

         
Net Sales  $145,686 $171,223 $173,380  $167,204 $184,435 $184,366 $143,902 $122,604 
Cost of goods sold 147,147  170,202   158,343 151,765 167,728  168,319   132,535   112,696 
Gross profit (1,461) 1,021 15,037 15,439 16,707 16,047 11,367 9,908 
         
Selling, general and 

administrative expenses 
 

13,523 19,303 10,395 10,130 11,597 10,187 8,062 7,520 
Amortization 636 522 516 478 568 547 503 343 
Goodwill impairment charges     24,228              -            -               -               -              -              -              - 
Operating (loss) income (39,848) (18,804) 4,126 4,831 4,542 5,313 2,802 2,045 
         
Other income (expense) – net (111) 528 194 217 752 176 275 (236) 
Interest expense (benefit)     (1,991)     (1,589)    (1,491)     (2,006)      (2,165)     (1,900)     (1,622)    (1,863) 
Income (loss) before income 
taxes 

(41,950) (19,865) 
2,829 3,042 3,129 3,589 1,455 (54) 

         
Income tax expense (benefit)      5,018     (7,332)       (143)         530           336         954          349       (203) 
Net (loss) income $(46,968) $(12,533) $   2,972 $    2,512 $     2,793 $   2,635  $    1,106 $      149 
         
Net (loss) income per common 

share: 
  

      
Basic $  (1.28) $  (0.34) $  0.08 $  0.08 $  0.10 $  0.09 $  0.05 $  0.01 
Diluted (1.28) (0.34)  0.08 0.08 0.09 0.09 0.04 0.01 
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MARKET FOR PEMSTAR’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS 
PEMSTAR Inc. 
 
 
Market Information 

Our common stock has been quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “PMTR” since our initial 
public offering of common stock in August 2000. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the 
high and low sales prices per share of our common stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market.  

 
    High  Low 

 Fiscal 2001:   
  Second Quarter (beginning August 8, 2000) ......... . $25.88 $11.22
  Third Quarter ......................................................... . $20.00 $  5.50
  Fourth Quarter ....................................................... . $15.25 $  6.25
   
 Fiscal 2002:   
  First Quarter........................................................... . $15.00 $  6.38
  Second Quarter .......................................................  $18.55 $ 9.06
  Third Quarter ..........................................................  $16.48 $ 9.94
  Fourth Quarter ........................................................  $13.98 $ 8.36
 
 Fiscal 2003: 
  First Quarter (through June 25, 2002) ....................  $ 9.68 $ 1.31
 
Holders 

 
 As of June 25, 2002, our common stock was held by approximately 1,007 shareholders of record and was 
selling at $1.33 per share.  

Dividends 

 We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash 
dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings to fund the development and 
growth of our business. 
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The Fluke ScopeMeter® is an outstanding example of PEMSTAR’s “Concept to Customer” philosophy in action. Fluke and
PEMSTAR worked together – from idea to finished product – to create the Fluke ScopeMeter 190 Series handheld device
(pictured above). Utilizing leading-edge technology, the companies developed a high performance oscilloscope that helps
engineers diagnose problems with industrial machinery. 

ScopeMeter is a registered trademark of Fluke Corporation.

PEMSTAR Inc.
3535 Technology Drive NW
Rochester, Minnesota 55901
(507) 288-6720 www.pemstar.com
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